FILE COPY NOT REPORT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 19-0741

THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE POLICE, DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY AFFAIRS and PUBLIC SAFETY,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

Appeal from an order of the Circuit Court of Berkeley County (CC-02-2019-C-161)

NOV 2 6 2010

J.H., a minor, by and through his partner and next friend, L.D.,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC Of Counsel

STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC Of Counsel Montè L. Williams (WV Bar No. 9526) P.O. Box 1616 Morgantown, WV 26507-1616 (304) 598-8000 monte.williams@steptoe-johnson.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The Circuit Court of Berkeley County committed plain error in its order of July 26, 2019, which denied the West Virginia State Police's (the "State Police") motion to dismiss, when it considered matters outside the pleadings—a video of the incident at issue—when ruling on the State Police's motion, without providing notice to the State Police and without converting the State Police's motion to dismiss into one for summary judgment.

B. The Circuit Court of Berkeley County erred as a matter of law in its order of July 26, 2019 when it denied the State Police's motion to dismiss the vicarious liability claim on qualified immunity grounds despite its earlier finding, in response to the Trooper Defendants' motions to dismiss, that there was an absence of well-pleaded facts to show that the Trooper Defendants used excessive force and that a mere allegation of injury during the course of an arrest was insufficient to overcome qualified immunity.

C. The Circuit Court of Berkeley County erred as a matter of law in its order of July 26, 2019 when it denied the State Police's motion to dismiss the negligent training and supervision claim on qualified immunity grounds, even though neither J.H. nor the Circuit Court identified any clearly established law the State Police was alleged to have violated in its training and supervision of the Trooper Defendants.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent J.H. alleged that Defendants Michael Kennedy and Derek Walker were State Troopers, "acting both within and outside the scope of their duties" at the relevant time. (App. 000073 at ¶¶ 3, 5). He also alleged that on November 19, 2018, Troopers Kennedy and Walker, along with Defendants Deputies Christopher Merson and Austin Ennis, "acting together as a mob" "brutally and severely beat" him. *Id.* at 000074 ¶ 7.

J.H. brought two counts against the State Police: First, a count of vicarious liability, claiming that the alleged actions of Troopers Kennedy and Walker were imputed to the State Police under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*. *Id.* at ¶¶ 8-9. The alleged actions of Troopers Kennedy and Walker that were to be imputed to the State Police were that the Troopers violated ten different statutes of the West Virginia Code, causing J.H. harm, and that Troopers Kennedy and Walker negligently and intentionally inflicted emotional distress upon him. *Id.* at 000074-76 ¶¶ 12, 14, 16. Second, J.H. brought a direct claim against the State Police for negligent training and supervision. *Id.* at 000074 ¶ 10.

Before the State Police filed its initial response to the complaint, the Trooper Defendants each filed motions to dismiss, arguing, *inter alia*, that they were entitled to qualified immunity from J.H.'s claims because J.H. did not identify in the complaint a clearly established law or right that either of the Trooper Defendants violated. The Circuit Court denied Trooper Kennedy's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019 and Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss by an order entered June 22, 2019. *Id.* at 000062-64, 000077-80. In both orders, the Circuit Court found that there was "an absence of well-pleaded facts to allow the court to determine whether the physical actions visited upon J.H. was [sic] objectively reasonable force to effect an arrest or a gratuitous infliction of pain on a recalcitrant prisoner." *Id.* at 000063, 000078-79. The Circuit Court further found that a simple allegation of injury during the course of an arrest is insufficient to particularly plead facts to overcome an assertion of qualified immunity. *Id.* at 000064, 000079. Nevertheless, the court did not make a ruling on the qualified immunity defense but deferred the question and permitted discovery to proceed. *Id.*

The State Police also moved to dismiss the claims against it. The State Police argued that, despite the Circuit Court's earlier orders, J.H. had not made sufficient specific factual allegations

on the face of the complaint that, even if true, could state a violation of clearly established law against the Trooper Defendants. *Id.* at 000097. Consequently, if the Trooper Defendants were entitled to qualified immunity from the direct claims against them, the State Police was entitled to qualified immunity from the vicarious liability claim against it. *Id.* The State Police further argued that it was entitled to qualified immunity from the negligent training and supervision claim because J.H. did not plead any facts, taken as true, that would show the State Police violated clearly established law in its training and supervision of the Trooper Defendants. *Id.* at 000099-102.

The Circuit Court denied the State Police's motion to dismiss by an Order entered on July 26, 2019. *Id.* at 000167-71. The Circuit Court devoted only one paragraph of its Order to discussing qualified immunity. The Circuit Court again merely stated that it was not making any findings regarding qualified immunity and was deferring the question to permit a factual inquiry. *Id.* at 000170.

The State Police moved the Circuit Court to stay its proceedings pending this appeal. The Circuit Court held a hearing on the motion to stay on August 30, 2019.

During the hearing on the motion to stay, and in its order denying the motion, the Circuit Court revealed that it considered a "dashcam" video of the incident at issue when deciding to deny the State Police's motion to dismiss. *Id.* at 00196:23-197:16; 000209-10. J.H. submitted the video in response to Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss. *Id.* at 000066. The Circuit Court, however, did not indicate in its order denying Trooper Walker's motion that it considered the video in reaching its decision. *Id.* at 000077-79. To the contrary, the Circuit Court stated that its decision was "[b]ased solely on the amended complaint[.]" *Id.* at 000078.

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal because the order being appealed denied the State Police's motion to dismiss, which was based, in part, on the grounds of qualified immunity.

Thus, the order is subject to immediate appeal under the "collateral order doctrine." Syl. Pt. 1, *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 783 S.E.2d 75 (2015).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When the Circuit Court ruled on the State Police's motion to dismiss, it committed three errors. First, the court committed plain error by considering matters outside of the pleadings at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage. Specifically, the court considered "dashcam" video of the incident at issue that was submitted by J.H. in response to the motion to dismiss filed by Trooper Walker.

Second, the Circuit Court denied the State Police's motion to dismiss the vicarious liability claim against it, despite its earlier finding that the complaint lacked sufficient allegations to state a violation of clearly established law by the Trooper Defendants. Given this finding, the court should have granted the motions to dismiss of the Trooper Defendants and the State Police. Instead, the court permitted discovery to go forward.

Finally, the Circuit Court denied the State Police's motion to dismiss the negligent training and supervision claim. The Circuit Court did not consider the State Police's motion in regard to this claim at all, even though J.H. did not plead any facts that, if proven true, would show a violation of clearly established law in the State Police's training and supervision of the Trooper Defendants. Instead, the Circuit Court simply held that discovery in general could proceed.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The State Police respectfully submits that oral argument under Rule 20 is appropriate in this appeal. First, this appeal involves issues of first impression—whether a circuit court may consider matters outside the pleadings submitted by a non-moving party in response to a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) and whether an interlocutory appeal under the collateral order doctrine is proper when a circuit court refuses to rule on qualified immunity in response to a Rule

12(b)(6) motion. Second, this appeal involves issues of fundamental public importance—whether a public agency may be forced to undergo time-consuming and expensive litigation even if a plaintiff does not plead sufficient facts in the complaint to state a violation of clearly established law by the public agency.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A *de novo* standard of review applies to the Circuit Court's July 26, 2019 order. First, there is an issue of whether the Circuit Court properly applied the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure in considering matters outside of the pleadings when deciding a motion under Rule 12(b)(6). "An interpretation of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* presents a question of law subject to a *de novo* review." Syl. Pt. 4, *Keesecker v. Bird*, 200 W. Va. 667, 671, 490 S.E.2d 754, 758 (1997).

Second, this Court reviews a circuit court's order denying a motion to dismiss using a *de novo* standard. *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015). When deciding a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), "the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true." *John W. Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 W. Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978). Despite this liberal standard, however, the essential material facts to support the claim must appear on the face of the complaint. *Fass v. Nowsco Well Serv.*, 177 W. Va. 50, 52, 350 S.E.2d 562, 563 (1986). Moreover, "sketchy generalizations of a conclusive nature unsupported by operative facts" do not set forth a cause of action. *Id.* at 52-53, 350 S.E.2d at 563-64. Finally, "'in civil actions where immunities are implicated, the trial court must insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff." *Marple*, 236 W. Va. at 660, 783 S.E.2d at 81 (quoting *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 149, 479 S.E.2d 649, 659 (1996)).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court Committed Plain Error by Considering Matters Outside the Pleadings When Deciding the State Police's Motion to Dismiss Without Providing Notice to the State Police and Without Converting the Motion Into One for Summary Judgment.

This Court should reverse the Circuit Court's order because the court below improperly considered matters outside the pleadings when deciding the State Police's motion to dismiss without providing notice to the State Police and without converting the motion into one for summary judgment. As a result, the State Police had no opportunity to present its own evidence and argument for judgment as a matter of law.

In deciding a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a trial court generally may not consider matters outside the pleadings. *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co.*, 160 W. Va. 530, 536, 236 S.E.2d 207, 211 (1977). This is because a Rule 12(b)(6) motion "goes solely to the sufficiency of the claims *as they are presented in the pleadings.*" *Dunn v. Consolidation Coal Co.*, 180 W. Va. 681, 683, 379 S.E.2d 485, 487 (1989) (emphasis added). If, however, a trial court considers matters outside of the pleadings at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage, "the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment . . . and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b); see also Syl. Pt. 5, *Riffle v. C.J. Hughes Const. Co.*, 226 W. Va. 581, 703 S.E.2d 552 (2010). Failure to provide notice to the other parties and an opportunity to present their own evidence may constitute reversible error. *Riffle*, 226 W. Va. at 589-90, 703 S.E.2d at 560-61; *Dunn*, 180 W. Va. at 684, 379 S.E.2d at 488.

Here, the Circuit Court considered matters outside of the pleadings—a "dashcam" video of the incident in question—without providing notice to the parties, and without providing the other parties an opportunity to present their own evidence. J.H. had earlier submitted the video as

an exhibit to his response in opposition to Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss. App. 000066.¹ Although J.H. submitted the video, the Circuit Court did not provide notice to the parties that it would consider the video in deciding Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss. Indeed, the order denying Trooper Walker's motion made no mention of the video. *Id.* at 000077-79.

The Circuit Court also did not provide notice that it intended to consider the video when deciding the State Police's motion to dismiss.² As with the order denying Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss, the order denying the State Police's motion to dismiss did not mention the video. *Id.* at 000167-71.

The State Police only learned that the Circuit Court considered the video in ruling on its motion to dismiss after it had filed this appeal, during a hearing on the motion to stay filed in the Circuit Court. In its order denying the State Police's motion to stay, the Circuit Court discussed the appropriateness of a motion to dismiss when the incident at issue is "documented by a real-time video as in this matter[.]" *Id.* at 000210. During this hearing, the court inquired whether it was required to blind itself to the video in order to decide a motion to dismiss. *Id.* at 000193:15-21. Nonetheless, the court stated on the record that the video was "clearly in [its] mind when [it] was considering [the State Police's] motion." *Id.* at 000196:23-197:16.

It does not matter that it was J.H., and not the State Police, who submitted the materials outside the pleading. Rule 12(b) provides that a motion to dismiss shall be treated as one for

¹ The State Police was served a copy of J.H.'s response to Trooper Walker's motion to dismiss via West Virginia's E-Filing System. Consequently, the State Police was not served with a copy of the video itself. Upon information and belief, the video included in the Appendix, over the State Police's objection, is the video J.H. refers to.

 $^{^2}$ J.H. mentioned the video in his response to the State Police's motion to dismiss. *Id.* at 000156. The State Police intended to object to consideration of the video in its reply brief, but the Circuit Court entered an order denying the State Police's motion before the State Police had an opportunity to file a reply. *Id.* at 000167. ("The court therefore will dispense with the reply and rule.")

summary judgment if "matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court"; it does not distinguish who must present the matters. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b). *See also*, Louis J. Palmer & Hon. Robin Jean Davis, *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* 417 (5th ed. 2017) (noting that the court may convert a motion to dismiss into one for summary judgment when "it is the non-moving party who introduces extra-pleading matter"); Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, 5C *Federal Practice & Procedure* § 1366 (3d ed. 2004) ("Either the pleader or the moving party or both may bring the conversion provision into operation by submitting matter that is outside the challenged pleading, as courts in every circuit have recognized."); *Clatterbuck v. City of Charlottesville*, 708 F.3d 549, 558 (4th Cir. 2013) ("On a motion pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the court's task is to test the legal feasibility of the complaint without weighing the evidence that might be offered to support or contradict it.")

The Circuit Court's consideration of the video submitted by J.H.—without providing the State Police with notice and a chance to submit its own evidence—was reversible error. For this reason alone, the Court should reverse the Circuit Court's order denying the State Police's motion to dismiss. Even if the Circuit Court had not considered the video, however, it erred as a matter of law by failing to grant the State Police's motion to dismiss based upon the deficiencies in J.H.'s pleading, as discussed below.

B. The Circuit Court Erred in Declining to Dismiss the Vicarious Liability Claim Against the State Police Because It Expressly Found That J.H. Did Not Plead Sufficient Facts to Overcome the Trooper Defendants' Entitlement to Qualified Immunity.

This Court should also reverse the Circuit Court's order because the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law when it did not grant the State Police's motion to dismiss the vicarious liability claim on qualified immunity grounds and permitted discovery to go forward. Because the Circuit Court earlier acknowledged that J.H.'s pleading did not allege sufficient facts to state a violation

of clearly established law so as to overcome the Trooper Defendants' entitlement to qualified immunity, it was obligated to dismiss the vicarious liability claim against the State Police.

Qualified immunity is more than merely a defense to a suit; the "very heart" of the doctrine is that it spares a defendant from having to go forward with an inquiry into the merits of the case. *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 148, 479 S.E.2d 649, 658 (1996). The ultimate determination of whether qualified immunity bars a civil action is a question of law that is ripe for summary disposition unless there is a bona fide dispute about the facts that underlie the immunity determination. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 1.

This Court has set forth the analysis to be used to decide whether qualified immunity applies. When the alleged governmental acts or omissions giving rise to liability involve discretionary functions, trial courts must determine whether the alleged acts or omissions violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive. Syl. Pt. 3, *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015). Without such a showing, both a state agency and its employees are immune from liability. *Id.*

Thus, in cases where qualified immunity is implicated, trial courts must insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff. *Hutchison*, 198 W. Va. at 149, 479 S.E.2d at 659. Public officials and governmental agencies are entitled to qualified immunity "unless it is shown by *specific allegations* that the immunity does not apply. *Id.* at 147-48, 479 S.E.2d at 657-58 (emphasis added). These specific allegations must be more than mere conclusions. *Id.* at 150, 479 S.E.2d at 660. When the allegations in a plaintiff's complaint, even accepted as true, do not state a cognizable violation of constitutional or statutory rights, then the complaint has failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. *Id.* at 149, 479 S.E.2d at 659 n.12. Accordingly, when a

complaint fails to allege a violation of clearly established law, dismissal is appropriate. *See Marple*, 236 W. Va. at 660-61, 783 S.E.2d at 81-82 (reversing denial of motion to dismiss on qualified immunity grounds when plaintiff did not identify clearly established law that was violated by defendant's alleged discretionary acts); *W. Va. Dep't of Educ. v. McGraw*, 239 W. Va. 192, 203, 800 S.E.2d 230, 241 (2017) (same); *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Croaff*, No. 16-0532, 2017 WL 2172009, at *6-7 (May 17, 2017) (memorandum decision) (same).

Accordingly, if a plaintiff does not plead sufficient facts on the face of the complaint to state a violation of clearly established law that, if proven true, could overcome qualified immunity, the trial court should not permit discovery to proceed. As the United States Supreme Court recognizes, one of the chief purposes of qualified immunity "is to spare a defendant not only unwarranted liability, but unwarranted demands customarily imposed upon those defending a long drawn out lawsuit." *Siegert v. Gilley*, 500 U.S. 226, 232 (1991). Therefore, until the threshold question of immunity is resolved, discovery should not be allowed. *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982); *Helms v. Carpenter*, No. 16-1070, 2017 WL 5513618, at *5 (W. Va. Nov. 17, 2017) (memorandum decision) ("Clearly, under *Hutchison*, the immunity from the burden of a trial on the merits may extend to pretrial discovery.") (citing *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 526 (1985)).

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