FILE GOPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

JAN - 9 2020

Docket No. 19-0741	DO NOT BEN	MOVE
WEST VIRGINIA STATE POLICE, Department of Military Affairs and Public Safety, Defendant Below / Petitioner, vs. J.H., a minor, by and through his parent and next friend, L.D., Plaintiff Below / Respondent.	airs and Public Safety, Below / Petitioner, Appeal from an order of the Circuit Court of Berkeley County (CC-02-2019-C-161) ugh his parent and	
RESPONDENT'S BR	IEF	

J.H., a minor, by and through his parent and next friend, L.D., Respondent By Counsel

Paul G. Taylor

Attorney for Respondent

134 West Burke Street Martinsburg, WV 25401

304-263-7900 - Telephone

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent generally agrees with the statement of the case presented in Petitioner's brief, except insofar as whether the "facts" as presented and developed to this point are sufficient to serve as the basis for fully informed consideration by the trial and appellate courts of the Rule 12(b)(6), WV R. Civ. P. issues that underlie this appeal. This point is discussed in great detail below.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Because the Circuit Court order on appeal <u>deferred</u> ruling on the issue of qualified immunity in favor of additional factual development through discovery, the circuit court order on appeal is interlocutory, and not a final appealable order.
- 2. The real time video of the events which serve as the basis for the allegations in the complaint is not a matter outside the complaint. If the circuit court considered the video as part of the ruling on appeal (which has not been established), the circuit court did not commit error.
- 3. The Circuit Court's orders denying in part and deferring ruling on the issue of qualified immunity concerning the individual former trooper defendants below was not appealed by those trooper defendants. Thus, the orders stand. Petitioner has no standing to seek appellate review of these non-appealed orders.
- 4. Because the Circuit Court has not yet ruled on the claims of negligent and/or reckless training and supervision asserted against Petitioner, those claims are not yet ripe for appeal and should not be considered by this Court.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case should be placed on the Court's argument calendar pursuant to Rule 18(a), WV R. App. Pro., because the decisional process will be aided by oral argument.

This case is suitable for oral argument under Rule 20, WV R. App. Pro., because it involves the following: 1) an issue of first impression (deferral of a ruling on qualified immunity in favor of factual development through discovery; 2) issues of fundamental public importance, and 3) assignments of error in the application of settled law.

This case should be decided on the merits by the issuance of an opinion under Rule 20(g), WV R.Civ.P., for the following reasons: 1) emphasize the application of settled law; 2) address issues of first impression; 3) address issues of fundamental public importance, i.e., police administration and function; and 4) provide guidance to trial courts and litigants faced with similar issues in the future.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An interpretation of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* presents a question of law subject to a *de novo* review." Syl. Pt. 4, Kesecker v. Bird, 200 W. Va. 667, 671, 490 S.E. 2d 754, 758 (1997).

This Court reviews a circuit court's order denying a motion to dismiss using a *de novo* standard. *W. Va. Bd. Of Educ. V. Marple,* 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E. 2d 75, 81 (2015). When deciding a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), "the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true." *John W. Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc. V. Texaco, Inc.,* 161 W.Va.603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978).

Motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) are viewed with disfavor. <u>Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co.</u>, 236 SE2d 207 (WV 1977).

V. ARGUMENT

1. The July 26, 2019 interlocutory Circuit Court Order on appeal reflects on its face that the Circuit Court applied Rule 12(b)(6) criteria in denying in part Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss and deferring ruling on Petitioner's claim of qualified immunity in favor of additional discovery. The Circuit Court order presented for appellate review reflects no error by the Circuit Court.

Petitioner claims the Circuit Court committed plain error in considering matters outside the complaint prior to issuing its July 26, 2019 order denying in part Petitioner's Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss and deferring ruling on Petitioner's claim of qualified immunity in favor of discovery.

A Court speaks through its orders. State v. White, 425 SE 2d 210, 212 n.2 (WV 1992), citing State ex rel. Eselwine v. Thompson, 207 SE 2d 105, 107 (WV 1973). The Circuit Court order on appeal (App. 167-171) reflects that Petitioner failed to demonstrate (and continues to so fail) that it is beyond doubt that Plaintiff (here, Respondent) can prove no set of facts in support of his claims that will entitle Plaintiff to relief under the First Amended Complaint¹. Critically, for purposes of addressing the Petitioner's claim that the Circuit Court committed error in considering matters outside the pleading² when ruling on the subject motion to dismiss, the subject order is silent on the question of whether the Circuit Court considered matters outside the complaint when creating the ruling on appeal. In other words, in complete compliance with Rule 12(b)(6) and the cases interpreting and applying this rule, the Order on appeal is confined to the sufficiency of the claim set forth within the four corners of Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint - no mention is made in the order under appellate

¹ A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss challenges the sufficiency of the claim set forth in the complaint. The Circuit Court cited <u>Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co.</u>, 236 SE 2d 207 (WV 1977) as the standard to be applied in deciding a Rule 12 (b)(6) Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim for relief. Such motions are viewed with disfavor. Id.

² Rule 7, WV R. Civ. P., defines "pleadings." The only "pleadings" presented to this court in the Appendix are Plaintiff's Complaint (App. 1) and Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint (App. 73)

review that the Circuit Court considered matters other than the allegations set forth in the Complaint.³

Rule 8(a)(1), WV R. Civ. P., requires a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief. Rule 8(f) requires all pleadings to be construed as to do substantial justice.

As reflected in the July 26, 2019 order on appeal, Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint (App. 73 - 76), at a minimum, sets forth a claim for battery, (App 168) based on the arrest and beating of Plaintiff as set forth in the complaint. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate how this short, plain statement of the claim required by Rule 8(a) fails to meet the Rule 12(b)(6) standard, particularly when the pleading is to be liberally construed as required by Rule 8(f).

Simply put, Petitioner has failed to 1) meet its heavy burden of demonstrating that the First Amended Complaint fails to set forth claims for relief; and 2) demonstrate that the Circuit Court somehow committed reversible error by entering an order which, on its face, makes no mention of the consideration of matters extrinsic to the complaint. The Circuit Court did not need to consider matters extrinsic to the complaint when the complaint met the Rule 12(b)(6) standard on its face.

A. Even if the Circuit Court viewed the real time video of the events detailed in the complaint, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate 1) that the video was a matter extrinsic to the complaint; and 2) the video was relied upon by the Circuit Court in denying in part Petitioner's Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss

Setting aside the fact that the July 26, 2019 Circuit Court order on appeal never mentions the Circuit Court considered matters outside the complaint as a basis for the rulings encompassed in the order, the consideration of a real time, immutable, video of the events complained of in the complaint is not necessarily

³ Petitioner's claim that the Circuit Court improperly considered matters extrinsic to the complaint when issuing its Rule 12(b)(6) ruling arises from comments made by the Circuit Court at an August 30, 2019 hearing concerning, in part, Petitioner's Motion for Stay of Proceedings pending appeal (App. 192-197).

error.⁴ The events depicted on the video are matters intrinsic to the factual allegations in the complaint. Further, Petitioner has not (and/or cannot) demonstrate that the Circuit Court considered the video as part of the court's ruling.

Petitioner cites the following language from Rule 12(b)(7), WV R. Civ. P., in support of the argument that a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss should be treated as a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment, if the trial court considers matters outside the pleading prior to ruling:

"If on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, <u>matters outside the pleading are presented</u> to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56." (Emphasis added)⁵

Petitioner also cites <u>Riffle v. C.J. Hughes Const. Co.</u>, 703 SE 2d 552 (WV 2010) in support of its argument that the Circuit Court committed error "... by considering matters outside the pleading without notice" to Petitioner.

The written allegations in Plaintiff's Complaint are based on events depicted in the video. The events depicted in the video are identical to the matters contained in the complaint. Therefore, the video at issue is <u>not</u> a matter outside the pleading; it is the immutable, real-time basis of the complaint and intrinsic to the

⁴ "The West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure should be construed liberally to promote justice. Consistent with this liberal approach, a circuit court may look beyond the technical nomenclature of the complaint when ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure to reach the substance of the parties' positions." Syl.Pt.1, <u>Harrision v. Davis</u>, 478 SE2d 104 (WV 1996).

⁵ As an aside, both the language from Rule 12 (b)(7) cited above, and the following language from Rule 56(f) view with favor the opportunity of a party to marshall facts and evidence in support of its respective position prior to dispositive ruling by the court: "the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit... depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just." Rule 56(f), WV R. Civ. P. In the case at bar, the Circuit Court has sua sponte deferred ruling on the issue of qualified immunity in favor of discovery.

complaint.6

Petitioner was on notice of the video: a) it was used as the basis to discharge former trooper Defendants Kennedy and Walker from their employment with Petitioner; and b) it has been widely disseminated in the public domain - television, newspaper and social media. The video was officially in the court record on July 8, 2019 as an exhibit to Plaintiff's opposition to Defendant former trooper Walker's motion to dismiss (App. 72) - ten days before the July 18, 2019 filing of Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss at issue in the case at bar. The Petitioner concedes its failure to object to the video (see footnote 2, page 7 of Petitioner's brief).

Nothing presented by Petitioner to this Court demonstrates the Circuit Court improperly relied on any matters extrinsic to the complaint at the time of the ruling on appeal.

2. Petitioner West Virginia State Police has no standing to argue the qualified immunity claims of the individual former trooper Defendants when those individual Defendants themselves chose not to appeal the Circuit Court's interlocutory ruling which deferred consideration of the individual Defendants' qualified immunity claims in favor of additional discovery.

Petitioner concedes that "the ultimate determination whether qualified immunity bars a civil action is a question of law that is ripe for summary disposition <u>unless there is a bona fide issue about the facts</u> that underlie the immunity determination" (emphasis added), see page 9 of Petitioner's brief citing Syl.Pt. 1, <u>Hutchison v. City of Huntington</u>, 479 SE2d 649 (WV 1996). This statement implies appropriate factual development (as ordered by the Circuit Court below) prior to a ruling on the issue, especially when, as in the case at bar, the parties disagree whether a sufficient factual basis has been alleged in order to proceed with litigation.

⁶ Information brought out during argument of the motion to dismiss is relevant to the extent that such information is <u>consistent</u> with the allegations. <u>Harrison</u> at 110, citing <u>State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac Buick, Inc.</u>, 461 SE2d at 522 n.7 (WV 1995).

Former troopers Michael Kennedy and Derek Walker were discharged from the West Virginia State Police because of their acts and omissions in the arrest and beating of Plaintiff/Respondent. (See Complaints (App 1, 73, respectively, and video submitted as part of the Appendix in this case.) Both former troopers filed motions to dismiss. Both motions to dismiss were denied in part and deferred in part.⁷ Both former troopers appeared to recognize the Circuit Court's <u>deferral</u> of a ruling on the issue of qualified immunity in favor of discovery for what the ruling was: interlocutory.

Interlocutory rulings are generally not appealable. However, the circuit court <u>denial</u> (as opposed to deferral as in the case at bar) of a motion to dismiss that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine. <u>WV Board of Education v. Marple.</u>, 783 SE 2d 75,81 (WV 2015). Setting aside the fact that the case at bar involves a <u>deferral</u> of a motion to dismiss and not a <u>denial</u>, both former troopers chose not to appeal the ruling. The deadline for such appeals has passed without appeals from the former troopers. Now, Petitioner seeks to appeal rulings concerning defendants that are not parties to this appeal which rulings are now the law of the case below. <u>Arizona v. California</u>, 460 US 605, 618 (1983). See also <u>State ex rel. Frazier & Oxley, LC v. Cummings</u>, 591 SE 2d 728, 734 (WV 2003). Petitioner has no standing to pursue claims of entities not parties to this appeal.

Standing is comprised of three elements: first, the party attempting to establish standing must have suffered an "injury-in-fact" - an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent and not conjectural or hypothetical. Second, there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct forming the basis of the lawsuit. Third, it must be likely that the injury will be redressed through a favorable decision of the court. Findley v. State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co., 576 SE2d 807, 821 (WV 2002)

⁷ The Kennedy order is found at App. 62. The Walker order is found at App. 77.

Petitioner has not met the requirements for standing, to-wit: first, it has suffered no injury. At a minimum, it will have to deal with the burdens of litigation to some degree as a custodian of records, if this is truly an "injury." Second, Respondent concedes the burdens of litigation (i.e., "injury") about which Petitioner complains is causally connected to the conduct forming the basis of the lawsuit. Third, Petitioner is unable to demonstrate that its "injury" is likely to be redressed through a favorable decision of the court, at least at this early stage of the litigation, in the absence of discovery and factual development.

Setting aside the issue of whether Petitioner has standing to seek appellate review of a deferred ruling on the issue of qualified immunity, the Circuit Court has quite correctly deferred ruling on the issue in favor of additional factual development through discovery.

The issues raised in support of the Rule 12(b)(6) motions of Kennedy and Walker to dismiss Plaintiff's complaint were similar to the issues raised in support of Petitioner's motion to dismiss, to-wit: a) does WV Code §55-7-9 create a private cause of action based on the statutes that Plaintiff alleges Defendants have violated; and b) are the individual former trooper Defendants and Petitioner protected by qualified immunity? Petitioner West Virginia State Police also argues that because Respondent alleges Defendants Kennedy and Walker acted outside the scope of their employment, Petitioner is not vicariously liable for the actions of their employees, Kennedy and Walker. Petitioner overlooks the fact that Respondent alleged the former troopers were acting both within and outside the scope of their employment. See paragraph 3 of Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint. (App. 73)

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